

**BYLAWS
OF THE
KALAMAZOO LAKE HARBOR AUTHORITY, INC**

I. NAME

1.1 The name of the corporation is "Kalamazoo Lake Harbor Authority." Herein the corporation shall be referred to as the "Authority" or "KLHA."

II. OFFICE

2.1 The principal office of the Authority shall be 86 W. Center Street, Douglas, MI 49406, or such other location as may be determined from time to time by the Authority Board.

III. LEGAL FORMATION

3.1 The Kalamazoo Lake Harbor Authority is a separate legal entity and public body created by the Inter-local Agreement entered into by the Cities of the Village of Douglas, MI and Saugatuck, MI on November 15, 2011, pursuant to Act No.7 of PA 1967 of the State of Michigan. Herein each of the two cities shall be referred to as a "Party" or "City."

3.2 The Authority shall have those powers expressly granted by law and necessarily implied under State of Michigan Acts 7, 94, & 451 as stated in the Inter-local Agreement.

IV. BOARD

4.1 The Board of Directors shall, for general purposes, consist of the following Board Members. The appointing authority of each Party shall appoint two (2) members to the Authority Board provided that not more than one (1) of those members is an elected official. The appointing authorities of each Party shall collectively agree on the appointment of one (1) additional member who shall be a person having ownership, residence or business interest in land abutting Lake Kalamazoo. Members of the Authority Board shall serve at the pleasure of the appointing Party for terms established by each Party, but not to exceed four (4) years.

(a) Each Party entitled to membership on the Authority Board shall have the ability to appoint one (1) alternate member to serve in a permanent member's place if the permanent member is absent from an Authority Board meeting. Appointment of the alternate shall be made by the appointing City in writing.

- (b) The City Manager or Chief Administrative Official of each Party shall serve as an ex-officio non-voting member of the Authority Board.
- (c) A vacancy on the Authority Board shall be filled in the same manner as the original appointment for the balance of the unexpired term.
- (d) All Authority Board Members are eligible for re-appointment in accordance with the rules and procedures of the appointing City.
- (e) All Authority Board members may be removed by the appointing City at will.
- (f) If the Authority Board is assuming the powers under a particular Act requiring additional board members, those members shall be appointed for the limited purpose and duration required under that particular Act. Those additional, temporary board members shall be appointed in the same manner as the standing Authority Board members.

V. OFFICERS

5.1 **Officers.** The Authority Board, at the annual meeting, shall elect a Chairperson, Vice-Chairperson, a Secretary and a Treasurer who shall hold their offices for one year or until their successors are duly elected. Said officers shall exercise such powers and perform such duties as shall be determined by the Authority Board.

5.2 **Compensation.** The officers shall receive no compensation for the performance of their duties, but each officer shall be reimbursed for such officer's reasonable expenses in carrying out those duties. A member of the authority board may engage in private or public employment, or in a profession or business.

5.3 **Conflicts of Interest.** The Authority Board requires that any member of the Authority Board having a director an indirect interest in any matter before the Authority disclose that member's interest.

Subject to the relevant provisions of State law, the Authority shall develop policies and procedures with the objective of precluding the opportunity for and the occurrence of transactions by the Authority that would create a conflict of interest involving members of the Authority Board, officers and employees of the Authority. At a minimum, the Authority shall required compliance by each member of the Authority Board, Officers, and/or employees of the Authority who regularly exercise significant discretion over the award and management of Authority projects with the following:

- (a) Immediate disclosure of the existence and nature of any financial interest of an individual or immediate family member that would reasonably be expected to create a conflict of interest.
- (b) Withdrawal by any member of the Authority board, Officers, and/or employees from participation in or discussion or evaluation of any recommendation, or decision

involving an Authority project that would reasonably be expected to create a conflict of interest for that individual.

5.5 **Termination.** An officer may be removed by the Authority Board by a majority vote of the Authority Board with or without cause at any time. An officer may resign at any time by written notice to the Authority Board. Any vacancy thereby created shall be filled by a majority vote of the Authority Board and that appointment shall remain in effect until the next annual meeting.

VI. BOARD POWERS & RESPONSIBILITIES

6.1 The Authority Board shall do all of the following by a majority vote unless otherwise provided:

- (a) Upon the recommendation of the Authority Board, adopt by-laws and rules of procedure governing the Authority Board and their respective actions and meetings. Initial by-laws and rules of procedure shall be adopted within six (6) months of the first meeting of the Authority Board.
- (b) Elect individuals to fill the positions of Chairperson, Vice Chair, Secretary and Treasurer.
- (c) Cause to be conducted an annual independent financial audit of the Authority in accordance with the Budget Act.
- (d) Upon the recommendation of the Chairperson and the Treasurer, approve the annual budget in accordance with the Uniform Budgeting and Accounting Act, Act No. 2 of the Public Acts of Michigan, 1968, as amended, **the (Budget Act)**.
- (e) Evaluate the Authority's performance under these Bylaws and recommend changes.
- (f) Establish policies and procedures in respect of ethics and conflicts of interest consistent with Sections 2.09 and 7.09 of the Interlocal Cooperation Agreement.
- (g) **Establish policies, procedures and rates for the reimbursement of expenses for members in connection with the performance of their duties.**
- (h) Approve an investment policy in accordance with Act No. 20, of the Public Acts of Michigan, 1943, as amended.
- (i) Create committees and appoint individuals to serve thereon to study, evaluate, and make recommendations to the Authority for consideration.
- (j) Determine Authority priorities and communicate these priorities and progress towards them back to appointing Cities.

6.2 Fiduciary Duty. The members of the Authority Board are under a fiduciary duty to conduct the activities and affairs of the Authority in the best interests of the Authority, including the safekeeping and use of all Authority monies and assets for the benefit of the Authority. The members of the Authority Board shall discharge this duty in good faith, with the care a reasonably prudent individual in a like position would exercise under similar circumstances.

VII. MEETINGS

7.1 Communication of Meetings. The Authority Board shall meet at least annually at the place, date, and time as the Authority Board shall determine. The Secretary of the Authority, or his or her designee, shall cause to have posted the public notice of the specific dates, times, and places for all meetings of the Authority as required by the Open Meetings Act. At least three (3) days prior to the date set for the holding of any meeting of the Authority Board, written notice of the time and place of such meeting shall be sent by email or other electronic means to each Authority Board member, as the case may be, at the email or other appropriate address of such member appearing on the records of the Authority.

7.2 Regular Meetings. The Authority shall adopt regular meeting schedule at their first meeting in each calendar year. The Secretary, or his or her designee, shall cause to have posted a notice and notify the media of the regular meeting schedule as adopted.

7.3 Special Meetings. Special meetings may be called at any time by the Chair or, in the Chair's absence, by the Vice-Chair. Only business referenced in the call of the Special Meeting may be transacted at a Special Meeting. Special meetings shall be subject to the provision of public notice as required in these Bylaws.

7.4 Change in Schedule. A change in the regular meeting schedule shall not be made, except upon the majority vote of the members of the Authority. Any change in the schedule of the Authority's regular meetings shall be posted within 3 days after the meeting at which the change is made, a public notice stating the new dates, times, and places of its regular meetings. In the absence of a quorum, two (2) or more members may adjourn any regular or special meeting to a later date, provided that proper notice to members and the public is given.

7.5 Quorum and Voting. A majority of the Authority Board then in office and present in person shall be required to constitute a quorum for the transaction of business, and a majority vote at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be necessary for the transaction of business. Each member of the Board shall be entitled to one (1) vote.

7.6 Rules of Order. Parliamentary procedure of meetings described herein shall be governed by Robert's Rules of Order, as revised, however said source may not be used to overrule or expand the authority expressly defined by statute.

7.7 **Closed Sessions.** The Authority may meet in a closed session only for the purposes specified in section 15.268 Michigan Act 267 of 1976 as amended, "Open Meeting Act."

VIII. ORDER OF BUSINESS

8.1 The order of business at regular meetings shall be:

- (a) Call to Order
- (b) Roll Call
- (c) Approval of Agenda
- (d) Approval of Minutes
- (e) Approval of Invoices
- (e) Public Communications
 - i. Written
 - ii. Verbal, a limit of 3 minutes
- (g) Unfinished Business
- (h) New Business
- (i) Reports
 - i. Committee Reports
 - ii. Staff Reports
- (j) Authority Member Comments
- (k) Adjournment

The order of business may be changed at any meeting by the Chair with the approval of the Board.

IX. BOOKS AND REPORTS

9.1 **Accrual Basis.** The Authority shall maintain its books of account on modified accrual basis of accounting, except as otherwise required by law.

9.2 **Authority Records.** The Authority shall keep and maintain at the principal office of the Authority all documents and records of the Authority. The records of shall include a copy of the Act 7 Interlocal Cooperation Agreement of the Authority along with a listing of the names and addresses of the Parties.

9.3 **Financial Statements and Reports.** The Authority shall cause to be prepared at least annually, at Authority expense, audited financial statements prepared in accordance with the Budget Act and with generally accepted accounting principles and accompanied by a written opinion of an independent Certified Public Accountant. A copy of the annual financial statement and report shall be filed with the State Department of Treasury within six months after the end of the Authority's Fiscal Year in accordance with law, with copies filed with each Party.

9.4 **Annual Update.** The Authority shall make to the governing bodies of each City an annual written report of its activities and plans for the future, which report shall include an audited financial statement, the preparation of which is provided for herein per

9.5 **Freedom of information Act.** The Authority is subject to and shall comply with the Freedom of Information Act.

X. FINANCES

10.1 **Annual Budget.** The Authority shall be subject to and comply with the Budget Act. The Treasurer annually shall prepare and the Authority Board shall approve a budget for the Authority for each Fiscal Year. Each budget shall be approved not less than 15 days prior to the beginning of the Fiscal Year. The budget may not be approved by the Authority Board unless first approved by each Party by resolution.

10.2 **Deposits and Investments.** The Authority shall deposit and invest funds of the Authority, not otherwise employed in carrying out the purposes of the Authority, in accordance with an investment policy established by the Authority Board consistent with State law regarding the investment of public funds.

10.3 **Disbursements.** Disbursements of funds shall be in accordance with guidelines established by the Authority Board and in accordance with the Budget Act and law.

XI. EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT

11.1 The members of the Authority shall be entitled to be reimbursed for expenses in connection with the performance of their duties and said expenses shall be itemized on a form prepared by the Authority and duly attested to by the members submitting same.

XII. ADMINISTRATIVE POWERS

12.1 The Chairperson, with the approval of the Board, may enter into any and all agreements for the use and/or occupancy of property which the Authority owns or to which the Authority has a possessory interest including, but not limited to, leases, easements, licenses and permits, provided that: (i) the said agreement is revocable by the Authority without cause being shown, or that (ii) changes the identity of the counter party to an existing agreement consistent with the terms of the said agreement, or that (iii) is a renewal or extension of an existing agreement on terms and conditions as favorable to the Authority as was the prior agreement. Provided, however, that no agreement entered into by the Chairperson pursuant to this provision shall obligate the Authority to expend funds in excess of amounts that the Chairperson is authorized to approve under the provisions of this Article XVI, and further provided that no agreement entered into by the Chairperson under this provision shall have a term in excess of five years.

XIII. AMENDING BYLAWS

13.1 These Bylaws may be amended pursuant to the following procedure:

- (a) A proposal to amend the Bylaws may be introduced at any regular meeting.
- (b.) If favorable action is taken thereon at such meeting, the proposal shall be recorded in the minutes and a special written notice setting forth such proposal shall be mailed to every member of the Authority at least ten (10) days before the next regular meeting.
- (c.) The amendment shall be finally acted upon at the next regular meeting following the meeting at which it was proposed.